# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/5/2018 8:00 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

95927-7

NO. 34757-5-III

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JUSTIN M. POLLARD,

Appellant,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON; and KAISER ALUMINUM & CHEMICAL CORP.,

Respondents.

### PETITION FOR REVIEW TO THE SUPREME COURT

Stephen K. Meyer, WSBA No. 22225 MEYER THORP, PLLC 101 E. Augusta Ave. Spokane, WA 99207 (509)533-1511

###

### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

COMES NOW the Petitioner, Justin M. Pollard, the Appellant below, by and through his attorney, Stephen K. Meyer, of Meyer Thorp, PLLC, pursuant to RAP 13.4, and asks this Court to accept discretionary review of the decision designated in Part II of this petition.

### II. DECISION BELOW

Review is sought of *Pollard v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., et al.*,

Division III, No.34757-5-III, *unpublished*, March 22, 2018. *See* Appendix

A. Appellant's Motion for Reconsideration was denied by order dated

May 3, 2018. *See* Appendix B.

### III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Is an injured worker's reasonable belief that a defense medical examination would be neither fair nor independent, due in large part to the self-insured employer's and Department of Labor and Industries' refusal to authorize a current, local attending physician of the worker's choice, a factor to be considered when adjudicating whether the worker had good cause for refusing to attend a defense examination?

### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

During the course of his employment with Kaiser Aluminum and Chemical, a self-insured employer under the Industrial Insurance Act, Justin Pollard sustained an industrial injury to both shoulders on September 23, 2010. CABR, Pollard, 5/28/15, p. 17, lines 18-32, Proposed Decision & Order, p. 3, lines 10-16. He timely filed an

application for benefits and his claim was allowed by order of the Department of Labor and Industries [Department]. His original attending physician under the claim was Jeffrey Pederson, D.O., a general practitioner. Dr. Pederson subsequently referred Mr. Pollard to Tycho Kersten, M.D., orthopedic surgeon, for an orthopedic consultation and treatment as necessary. Ultimately, Mr. Pollard underwent a left rotator cuff repair performed by Dr. Kersten on February 21, 2011. CABR, Pollard, 5/28/15, p. 20, lines 20-23; Proposed Decision & Order, p. 3, lines 17-28. Following surgery, Mr. Pollard continued to see Dr. Kersten, who ordered physical therapy and a follow-up MRI of the left shoulder. Mr. Pollard last saw Dr. Kersten on November 26, 2013. CABR, Pollard, 5/28/15, p. 23, lines 1-12; Proposed Decision & Order, p. 3, lines 20-22. On January 31, 2014, two months after his last office visit with Mr. Pollard, Dr. Kersten advised the self-insured employer that no further curative treatment was recommended and that the worker had sustained permanent impairment. Dr. Kersten recommended that Mr. Pollard's permanent impairment be rated by an independent medical examiner since he did not perform impairment ratings of his patients.

In February 2014, Mr. Pollard moved from Spokane, Washington to Las Vegas, Nevada. CABR, Pollard, 5/28/15, pp. 5-6, lines 19-5. On at least four occasions subsequent to his relocation, Mr. Pollard's attorney

requested that the self-insured employer allow Mr. Pollard to obtain an attending physician in his new geographic area. CABR, Thorp, 5/28/15, pp. 59-61; Proposed Decision & Order, p. 3, lines 29-37. Reasons for the request included Mr. Pollard's ongoing right shoulder symptoms, the need for his depression to be addressed, ongoing return to work issues, as well as the need of a local physician. CABR, Thorp, 5/28/15, pp. 58-61, 87-90. The employer refused each request and instead scheduled and required Mr. Pollard's attendance at a defense medical examination. CABR, Thorp, 5/28/15, pp. 59-61. In response, Mr. Pollard's attorney advised the selfinsured employer that he would attend a defense medical examination once his request for a current, local attending physician was granted. CABR 23; Pollard, 5/28/15, p. 41; Thorp, 5/28/15, pp. 73-75. The request was not granted and Mr. Pollard did not attend the scheduled defense examination. CABR, Pollard, 5/13/15, p. 41, lines 11-25; Thorp, 5/28/15, pp. 73-75.

Based upon the self-insured employer's notice to the Department that Mr. Pollard did not appear for its examination, the Department issued an order dated September 5, 2014, suspending the worker's benefits due to his failure to submit to, and/or cooperate with a medical examination.

CABR 25; Ex. 2; Ex. 3. A protest of the suspension order was filed September 10, 2014.

Although a hard copy of Mr. Pollard's protest of the suspension order is not contained in the Certified Appeal Board Record, sworn testimony before the Board included a verbatim reading of its content into the record. Specifically, by letter dated September 10, 2014, the worker's attorney advised the Department that:

The claimant has in fact responded to the employer on several occasions and had told the employer that the claimant would attend an IME in Las Vegas when the claimant's request to see a physician is approved. CABR, Thorp, 5/28/15, pp. 125-26.

In the same letter, the Department was further expressly advised by Mr. Pollard's attorney that:

My client is available to attend an IME right now in Las Vegas. He is not being non-cooperative. He does request that the employer authorize his visit to the new physicians in accordance with the law. CABR, Thorp, 5/28/15, p. 127 (emphasis added).

In addition to Mr. Pollard's letter to the Department dated September 10, 2014, his attorney wrote to the Department on November 12, 2014, at which time she again requested that the Department authorize a change of attending physician and that it further issue an order penalizing the self-insured employer for its refusal to do so. CABR, Guadagnoli, 6/22/15, p. 119; CABR, Jurisdictional History, p. 37.

In response to Mr. Pollard's letter and protest dated September 10, 2014, the Department issued an order dated December 30, 2014, affirming the previous suspension order dated September 5, 2014. CABR, Ex. 4.

Along with the order dated December 30, 2014, the Department's claim adjudicator drafted a letter the same date in which she explained her rationale for affirming the order suspending Mr. Pollard's benefits. In her letter to Mr. Pollard's attorney, the Department's adjudicator expressly stated:

After review of the claim file, it has been determined that there was no good cause for Mr. Pollard to not attend his independent medical exam. The issue you have with the third party administrator not authorizing an appointment with a new provider is not relevant to him attending an independent medical exam. These are two separate issues. CABR, Ex. 5.

Although the Industrial Appeals Judge rejected the exhibit on the basis that the adjudicative process was not relevant to the merits of the decision and order, it nonetheless remains part of the file and record on appeal.

CABR, Colloquy, 6/22/15, p. 125.

Mr. Pollard thereafter filed a timely Notice of Appeal of the order dated December 30, 2014. CABR, Jurisdictional History, p. 38. The Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals [Board] granted the appeal, finding that it had jurisdiction over the issue of whether the suspension of Mr.

Pollard's benefits was correct, or alternatively whether he had good cause for refusing to attend the medical examination at issue. *Id.*; CABR, p. 40.

Hearings were conducted before the Board. Extensive testimony was presented on the specific issue of whether the absence of a current, local attending physician and the corresponding belief by the claimant that he could not obtain a fair and impartial examination, constitutes good cause for refusing to attend a defense examination. CABR, Proposed Decision & Order, pp. 22-24; Pollard, 5/28/15, pp. 5-7, p. 12, p. 25; Thorp, 5/28/15, pp. 58-62, p. 74, pp. 86-90, pp. 95-96.

The Board issued a Proposed Decision and Order [PD&O] in which it entered Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law ultimately affirming the order under appeal. CABR, pp. 20-28. At no time did the Industrial Appeals Judge [IAJ] suggest that she was unable to consider the attending physician issue as it relates to Mr. Pollard's claim of good cause. *Id.*Rather, the IAJ reasoned that the denial of an attending physician was not "an enumerated or anticipated basis for good cause refusal to attend a properly scheduled IME." CABR, p. 26.

Mr. Pollard thereafter filed a Petition for Review [PFR] of the PD&O. CABR, pp. 7-13. Although the Board granted the PFR, it subsequently affirmed the PD&O without further comment or analysis. CABR, pp. 3-5.

Mr. Pollard then appealed the Board's decision to Spokane County Superior Court, where a bench trial was held before the Honorable Michael Price. CP 1. Judge Price drafted a memorandum decision on August 12, 2016, in which he concluded that Mr. Pollard had not demonstrated by a preponderance of the evidence that the Board's decision was improper or incorrect. CP 37-38. No rationale or analysis was offered. Findings of Fact and Conclusions of law were subsequently entered. CP 43-48. As with the Board's decision, none of the Findings or Conclusions referenced a jurisdictional inability to address the attending physician issue as it relates to good cause. *Id.* The issue was fully argued and briefed. CP 2-12, 13-27, 28-36.

Mr. Pollard then appealed to the Court of Appeals, Division III, which affirmed the trial court's decision on March 22, 2018. *See* Appendix A. The Court, however, did not address the merits of Mr. Pollard's "good cause" argument, instead concluding that the attending physician issue was not before it. *See* Appendix A.

Explaining its inability to reach the issue of whether the absence of an attending physician constitutes good cause, the Court stated:

Mr. Pollard did not ask the Department to resolve his and Kaiser's dispute over whether he had a right to transfer treatment to a Las Vegas-based physician of his choice. If he had, the Department states it would have considered the appropriate criteria and issued an order deciding the issue. *Br. of Resp't Department at* 15. Such an order and further orders following any protest, appeal and judicial review, would address and resolve the parties' dispute over the reasonableness of Mr. Pollard's request. Such orders would provide us with finding of fact on the facts that are disputed; findings we would then review for substantial evidence. As an appellate court, we do not weigh evidence and do not find facts. *Citations omitted*. *See* Appendix A, p. 12.

Noting that the Court's decision was premised upon a misunderstanding of the record, and that Mr. Pollard's attorney had twice asked the Department to address the attending physician issue in the context of his "good cause" argument, Mr. Pollard filed a Motion to Reconsider on April 11, 2018. The Motion was denied May 3, 2018. See Appendix B.

### V. ARGUMENT

The Industrial Insurance Act [IIA], which governs Mr. Pollard's claim, was enacted to provide "sure and certain relief for workers," injured during the course of their employment. RCW 51.040010. The IIA is remedial in nature and shall be liberally construed with doubts resolved in favor of the worker. RCW 51.12.010; *Shafer v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 166 Wn.2d 710, 213 P.3d 591 (2009); *McClelland v. ITT Rayonier*, 65 Wn. App. 386, 828 P.2d 1138 (1992). The underlying purpose of the Act is "to promote benefits and to protect workers." *Clark County v.* 

McManus, 185 Wn.2d 466, 472, 372 P.3d 764 (2016) (citing Hamilton v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 111 Wn.2d 569, 761 P.2d 618 (1988)).

Mr. Pollard's appeal encompasses two aspects of industrial insurance claims that are critically important to the fair and just administration of the IIA as intended. First, whether a worker has good cause for refusing to attend a defense medical examination is vitally important to the extent that the Act's underlying purpose cannot be furthered if a worker's benefits are suspended. A suspension of benefits, although statutorily authorized in certain circumstances, neither promotes benefits nor protects workers. Given the dire consequences a worker could face should his or her benefits be suspended, any practice, procedure, or decision that restricts a worker's ability to demonstrate good cause for properly refusing to attend a defense medical examination should be carefully scrutinized.

Second, as emphasized in recent decisions, perhaps no relationship is more critical in furthering the Act's purpose than that between an injured worker and his or her attending physician. *See, e.g., Clark County v. McManus*, 185 Wn.2d 466, 472, 372 P.3d 764 (2016); *Shafer v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 166 Wn.2d 710, 213 P.3d 591 (2009). To suggest that the issues of a freely chosen attending physician and good cause are separate, and that the denial of an attending physician of one's choice as guaranteed under the Act has no bearing on an injured worker's resulting belief that a

contemporaneously scheduled defense medical examination would not be fair and independent, frankly defies reason.

### A. Review Should be Accepted.

Mr. Pollard's Petition should be granted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4). The decision below is in conflict with decisions of this Court, as well as other decisions of the Court of Appeals. Further, the issues raised herein are of substantial public interest to the extent they implicate practice and procedures of the Department and self-insured employers that significantly undermine the underlying purpose of the IIA.

### B. Issues of Good Cause and the Denial of an Attending Physician of One's Choice are Closely Related.

Mr. Pollard does not contest or otherwise dispute the Department's and self-insured employer's authority under the Act to require a worker's attendance, from time to time, at reasonably scheduled medical examinations. RCW 51.32.110(1). However, any such right is not "unbridled." *Romo v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 92 Wn. App 348, 355, 962 P.2d 844, 848 (1998).

As a limitation upon the Department and self-insured employers in compelling workers' attendance at defense examinations, the Act allows for injured workers to refuse any such examination, without consequence, as long as he or she has good cause for doing so. RCW 51.32.110(2);

Romo v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 92 Wn. App 348, 355, 962 P.2d 844, 848 (1998).

The question of what constitutes good cause under the statute has been addressed by the Board and courts. In *Romo* the court considered the appeal of an injured worker who refused to attend a defense medical examination based solely upon her assertion that the Department lacked authority to schedule the examination. In affirming the Department's decision to suspend her benefits, the court quoted with approval a significant decision of the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals:

Whether good cause exists in a given case will depend on a variety of factors that require balancing from one instance to the next. Among those factors that may be considered are the claimant's physical capacities, sophistication, circumstances of employment, family responsibilities, proven ability or inability to travel, medical treatment and other relevant concerns, not the least of which is the expectation of a fair and independent medical evaluation.

Balanced against this are the interests of the Department and its statutory responsibility to act in attempting to resolve disputes at the first-step administrative level. This may include the need to resolve conflicting medical documentation, the location of willing and qualified physicians, the length of time before a physician is available to perform an examination, and the comparative expense of such. Neither of the above lists are exhaustive. *Romo v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 92 Wn. App 348, 356, 962 P.2d 844, 848 (1998)(quoting *In Re Bob Edwards*, BIIA Dec., 90 6072(1992).

According to Mr. Pollard's sworn testimony, the self-insured employer's repeated refusal to allow a current, conveniently located attending physician resulted in profound mistrust of the claim process and the pending defense medical examination. He had no one to present a competing medical opinion based upon current evidence. He had no one to expertly compare the anticipated defense findings with current examination findings. He had no one, of his choice, to serve as a check and balance against the defense examiner hand-selected by the employer.

The employer's refusal to authorize a transfer of attending physician, while simultaneously demanding that Mr. Pollard submit to a defense examination with an examiner of the employer's choice, resulted in the expectation that the defense medical examination would not be fair and independent. According to the rationale of the court in *Romo*, such a reasonable belief by Mr. Pollard is a factor that must be considered when adjudicating good cause.

Unfortunately, Mr. Pollard's expectation of an unfair and partial examination was not adequately considered by the Board, trial court, or appellate court. Remarkably, the Board's full and complete analysis of the issue is comprised of one sentence. CABR, Proposed Decision & Order, p. 7, lines 13-17. Aside from being inadequate, the Board's analysis as

adopted by the trial court is furthermore erroneous in reasoning that the denial of an attending physician "is not an enumerated or anticipated basis for good cause refusal to attend a properly scheduled IME." *Id*.

As clearly and unequivocally stated by the court in *Romo*, the list of relevant factors to be considered in a "good cause" balancing is not exhaustive. *Romo*, 92 Wn. App. at 356. Consequently, it is immaterial whether the reason given by Mr. Pollard for his refusal to attend the examination is enumerated.

In denying the presence of good cause, neither the Board nor the trial court conducted *any* balancing of factors as required in *Romo v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 92 Wn. App. 348, 962 P.2d 844 (1998) and *In re Bob Edwards*, BIIA Dec., 90 6072 (1992). In support of his claim of good cause, Mr. Pollard provided extensive and persuasive testimony that he did not believe a defense medical examination would be fair and impartial without a current, local attending physician of his choice. Conversely, the self-insured employer and Department provided absolutely no testimony or evidence establishing that allowing the change of physician would have adversely impacted the proper adjudication of the claim at a first step administrative level. A balancing of the *Edwards* and *Romo* factors, which must be conducted as part of any "good cause" adjudication, quite easily weighs in Mr. Pollard's favor.

It is also important to note that Mr. Pollard is not claiming that mere frustration with the claim adjudication process constitutes good cause. That has never been our contention. Our contention is that the absence of an attending physician produced a belief by Mr. Pollard that the defense examination at issue would be neither fair nor independent. It is further our contention that the decisions in *Clark County v. McManus*, 185 Wn.2d 466, 372 P.3d 764 (2016) and *Shafer v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 166 Wn.2d 710, 213 P.3d 591 (2009), wherein the importance of an attending physician is emphasized in great detail, support the reasonableness of Mr. Pollard's expectation of an unfair and partial exam.

As such, the *Romo* decision dictates that the denial of an attending physician, to the extent that it results in an expectation by the worker that a defense examination will be neither fair nor impartial, is a relevant factor that must be considered as part of any "good cause" balancing. Quite simply, the denial of an attending physician is not separate from a "good cause" balancing if the denial produces an expectation of unfairness or partiality.

Finally, although it is also our contention that the denial of a fundamental right under the Act denotes the type of harassment recognized in *Romo* as providing an injured worker with good cause, such a finding is not necessary in the present case. Irrespective of the violation

of Mr. Pollard's "right" to an attending physician of his choice, which clearly remained in effect pursuant to RCW 51.36.010(4), the resulting absence of a current, local attending physician produced a belief by Mr. Pollard that the defense medical examination would not be fair and independent. It is therefore a factor that must be considered in any "good cause" balancing. To date, no such balancing has occurred.

### C. The Absence of an Attending Physician of One's Choice is Closely Tied to Expectations of Fairness.

The right of an injured worker to choose his or her attending physician under the Industrial Insurance Act is fundamental. RCW 51.36.010. Indeed, the ability of an injured worker to freely choose an attending physician is critically important to ensuring that the underlying purpose of the Act is promoted.

### RCW 51.36.010(2)(a) provides that:

Upon the occurrence of any injury to a worker entitled to compensation under the provisions of this title, he or she shall receive proper and necessary medical and surgical services at the hands of a physician or licensed advanced registered nurse practitioner of his or her own choice, if conveniently located, except as provided in (b) of this subsection, and proper and necessary hospital care and services during the period of his or her disability from such injury.

The duration of a worker's right to an attending physician of his or her choice depends upon the nature and extent of disability. In cases of permanent partial disability, the right extends either to the date at which a permanent partial disability award is made or the date monthly allowances cease if the worker has already returned to work. RCW 51.36.010(4). In cases of temporary disability, including cases where loss of earning power benefits are paid, the right to an attending physician of one's choice extends to the date at which monthly allowances cease. *Id*.

In the present case, none of the applicable events listed in RCW 51.36.010(4), which would otherwise terminate a worker's right to a freely chosen attending physician, had yet occurred at the time Mr. Pollard's benefits were suspended. His right to choose a conveniently located attending physician near his residence in Las Vegas, Nevada, remained.

This Court has consistently recognized the crucial role played by an attending physician in industrial insurance claims. For example, in concluding that the closure of an injured worker's claim cannot become final and binding unless a copy of the closing order is served upon the attending physician by the Department, this Court in *Shafer v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus.*, 166 Wn.2d 710, 213 P.3d 591 (2009), explained that it is "abundantly clear that a worker's attending physician plays an important role" under the Industrial Insurance Act. *Shafer*, 166 Wn.2d at 720.

This Court in *Shafer* further emphasized that although an attending physician plays an "intricate" role throughout the entire claim process, he or she "is a *critical* component to the final resolution of claims." *Id*. (emphasis added).

The analysis in *Shafer* is directly applicable to Mr. Pollard's appeal. Just as an attending physician is "critical" to final claim resolution, so too is it essential that an injured worker have an attending physician when compelled to attend defense medical examinations. Indeed, to the extent that defense medical examinations are used to adjudicate medical issues that can result in claim closure, it would be directly contrary to the holding and rationale of *Shafer* to conclude that an attending physician is not necessary during the defense medical examination process.

Confirming the importance of an attending physician in this context, this Court recently held that the *Hamilton* instruction, advising a jury that it should give special consideration to the testimony of an attending physician, is mandatory in cases where an attending physician has testified. *Clark County v. McManus*, 185 Wn.2d 466, 372 P.3d 764 (2016); *Hamilton v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 111 Wn.2d 569, 761 P.2d 618 (1988).

Rejecting arguments by the self-insured employer and Department that the *Hamilton* instruction was either optional or an inappropriate comment upon the evidence, this Court reasoned that instructing a jury regarding the special consideration to be afforded an attending physician is based on "long-standing policy surrounding workers' compensation cases." *McManus*, 185 Wn.2d at 476. Indeed, giving special consideration to the opinion of an attending physician "supports the purpose of the Act, which is to promote benefits and to protect workers." *McManus*, 185 Wn.2d at 472 (citing *Hamilton v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 111 Wn.2d 569, 761 P.2d 618 (1988)).

Pursuant to the decisions in *Shafer* and *McManus*, as well as long-standing policy, the role of an attending physician is critical. As a result, Mr. Pollard's belief that the defense medical examination at issue would have been neither fair nor independent without an attending physician of his choice, is perfectly reasonable.

D. The Court of Appeals' Refusal to Address the Attending Physician Issue as it Relates to Good Cause is Factually and Legally Erroneous.

Contrary to the decision below, the attending physician issue as it relates to good cause was properly before the court. The Department was twice notified by Mr. Pollard of the attending physician issue and twice asked to resolve the dispute. By virtue of its decision and order dated

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