FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/6/2018 10:15 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 95927-7

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JUSTIN D. POLLARD,

Plaintiff,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR & INDUSTRIES and KAISER ALUMINUM & CHEMICAL CORP.,

Defendants.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR & INDUSTRIES ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

JAMES P. MILLS Senior Counsel WSBA No. 36978 Office No. 91040 1250 Pacific Avenue, Suite 105 PO Box 2317 Tacoma, WA 98401 (253) 593-5243

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

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

This case does not warrant review under RAP 13.4(b). First,

Kaiser's unrelated refusal to switch attending physicians cannot be a basis
for refusing to attend an independent medical exam. The Court of Appeals
correctly concluded that Pollard failed to show good cause because his

frustration with claims management is not good cause under longstanding precedent. Second, Pollard raises no issue of substantial public interest because the independent medical exam was necessary to adjudicate his claim and he has other remedies to address his unrelated dispute with his self-insured employer. This Court should deny review.

A. Pollard's Request to Change Attending Physicians Is Not a Basis for Refusing to Attend an Independent Medical Exam Under the Long-Standing Good Cause Standards

Pollard has not demonstrated any conflict with this Court's decisions or decisions of the Court of Appeals. A self-insured employer may direct an injured worker to attend an independent medical exam and the Department may reduce, suspend, or deny benefits if the worker refuses to attend the examination. RCW 51.32.110; RCW 51.36.070; WAC 296-14-410; *see also Romo*, 92 Wn. App. at 354.⁷ The worker then may show good cause for the noncooperation. RCW 51.32.110(2); WAC 296-14-410(4)(b). A number of factors may show good cause to not attend, including things like the inability to attend the examination because of family and employment responsibilities, inability to travel, physical capacity, and the expectation of a fair and independent medical

⁷ Pollard repeatedly mislabels the independent medical exam at issue as a "defense examination." Pet. 1, 3, 10. Under RCW 51.32.110(2), the Department and self-insured employers schedule independent medical exams to adjudicate claims, not to defend parties' positions in litigation as Pollard suggests. WAC 296-23-307.

examination. *Romo*, 92 Wn. App. at 356 (citing *Bob Edwards*, No. 90 6072, 1992 WL 218711 (Wash Bd. Ind. Ins. App. June 4, 1992)). But a worker's frustration with claims administration does not show good cause to fail to attend an examination. *See Romo*, 92 Wn. App. at 358.8

Pollard's request to switch attending physicians is not a basis for refusing to attend an independent medical exam but instead is a disagreement with claims management. The Court of Appeals' refusal to consider his unrelated administrative dispute about the change of physician follows the other decisions addressing the suspension of benefits and is not a basis for review. *See Romo*, 92 Wn. App. at 358; *see Garcia*, 86 Wn. App. at 752.

In *Romo*, the worker refused to submit to a medical examination because in her view the examination was redundant and she believed the Department had failed to provide good cause for requiring the examination. 92 Wn. App. at 351, 359. The court rejected her claims and concluded that it was her burden to show good cause for refusing to attend and that she failed to articulate any other reason than her frustration with the claims process, which was insufficient. *Id.* at 359. Likewise, in *Garcia*,

⁸ While the *Pollard* Court declined to recognize the general rule that the courts balances only factors related to the examination itself when considering whether there is good cause for failing to attend, it correctly declined to consider the unrelated switch of providers in its good cause analysis.

the worker articulated two reasons for refusing to attend an independent medical examination, his responsibility to care for his sister's children in Mexico—but not his unavailability to return for the examination—and his frustration with delays in his claim. *Garcia*, 86 Wn. App. at 751-52. The court rejected both and concluded that "his frustration with the Department's delays [does not] support[] the legal conclusion of good cause." *Id.* at 752. For three decades, the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals has relied on the standards in *Romo* and *Garcia*. *E.g.*, *Christopher B. Rodriguez*, No. 16 17236 & 16 17237, 2018 WL 3413570, *5 (Wash Bd. Ind. Ins. App. June 19, 2018); *David S. Clay*, No. 10 13138 2012 WL 1374523, *2 (Wash. Bd. Ind. Ins. App. February 1, 2012); *Gail H. Hanson*, No. 04 14071, 2005 WL 1658405, *2 (Wash. Bd. Ind. Ins. App. March 2, 2005).

Here, Pollard's claim amounts to frustration with the claim process because the disputes are unrelated. The dispute about the change of physician is unrelated to the independent medical exam because the independent medical examiner does not consult with the attending physician. *Cf.* WAC 296-23-347 (listing 17 duties of the independent medical examiner' responsibilities and not including communication with the attending physician as a duty). And even if Pollard asked the attending physician to review the report, the attending physician would not do so

until after the examination. Having the report reviewed by an attending physician is a separate issue from having the examination in the first place.

The timing of Pollard's request confirms that these are separate, unrelated issues. Pollard did not raise his request with the Department until months after he failed to attend the independent medical exam. The Department issued an order suspending Pollard's benefits on September 5, 2014, after Kaiser submitted evidence that Pollard failed to attend the medical exam scheduled with Dr. Swartz in May 2014 and then provided no good cause explanation within 30 days. AR Guadagnoli 110; Ex 2, 5. Then, Pollard's attorney sent a letter on September 10, 2014, which told the Department for the first time that Pollard had requested a switch of providers and that Kaiser had refused to allow him to do so. AR Thorp 126. But even at that late time, the September 10, 2014 letter did not request the Department take any action, it simply told the Department that Pollard would attend an independent medical exam if "the claimant's request to see a physician was approved [by the self-insured employer]." AR Thorp 126. Nearly two months after sending his protest to the Department, Pollard's attorney emailed the self-insured employer and once-again asked for a change of attending physician. Pollard's attorney simultaneously sent the Department a letter addressing his request for a

change of providers. AR Guadagnoli 111. This was the first time that Pollard asked the Department to address the switch of attending physicians. And that letter is not part the record because it was not an issue on appeal. Pollard had a separate right to ask the Department to consider whether the self-insured employer should allow him to request a new provider. RCW 51.32.055(6); RCW 51.36.010; WAC 296-20-065. The refusal to allow transfer of an attending physician may aggrieve a worker and the worker may ask the Department to issue an order to resolve a dispute about the transfer. *See* RCW 51.32.055(6), .190.9 Such an order—either ordering or denying the transfer—could then be appealed to the Board. *See, e.g., Maria Gonzalez*, No. 97 0261, 1998 WL 34076960, *4 (Wash. Bd. Ind. Ins. App. April 7, 1998).

The Department agrees that workers might be entitled to change attending physicians after a relocation, but Pollard has not appealed an order denying a transfer. The issue below, and here, is whether Pollard had good cause for failing to attend the independent medical exam. The Court of Appeals correctly declined Pollard's attempt to repurpose the self-insured employer's refusal to switch attending physicians as good cause for declining to participate in a rating examination by claiming that it

⁹ If the Department refused to issue an order, the claimant could seek mandamus compelling the Department to enter an order. *Dils v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 51 Wn. App. 216, 220, 752 P.2d 1357 (1988).

created a "profound mistrust of the claim process and the pending [examination]." Pet. 12. The Court correctly recognized that it should not consider whether the Department should have ordered Kaiser to allow Pollard to switch providers because the Department did not address that question in its orders and therefore it was outside the scope of review under well-established case law. *Slip op.* at 12-13 (citing *Hanquet v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 75 Wn. App. 657, 661-62, 879 P.2d 326 (1994)).

The Department correctly treated the September 10, 2014 letter as a protest of the September 5, 2014 order and affirmed that order after further consideration. AR, Ex. 4. The dispute raised to the Department only after it had suspended his benefits is not part of this appeal and not a basis for this Court to take review.

B. No Issue of Substantial Public Interest Is Created by Requiring a Claimant to Attend an Independent Medical Exam That Was Necessary for Claim Administration Even Though the Claimant Disagreed with an Unrelated Claim Decision

In order to show good cause, Pollard had to show that the balancing of his individual circumstances outweighed the interests of the self-insured employer and Department in the examination to overturn the suspension of his workers' compensation benefits. *See Romo*, 92 Wn. App. at 356-57. There is no issue of substantial public interest raised by the Court of Appeals refusing to allow Pollard to repurpose his

disagreement with Kaiser's refusal to transfer attending physicians into the good cause analysis for three main reasons.

First, the record below established that the examination was necessary for the administration of the claim. AR Herron 22. After three years of treatment, including surgery, his doctor concluded treatment. AR Pollard 5/13/15 at 21-23; Ex 7. Pollard's doctor told Kaiser that Pollard had reached maximum medical improvement and needed a permanent partial disability rating. CP 44; AR Herron 30-31, 34. That is why Kaiser scheduled the examination, so a doctor could perform the rating. Pollard has not denied that the self-insured employer could schedule an independent medical exam to determine the level of impairment in his shoulder. *See* Pet 10.

Second, the Court of Appeals ruling is consistent with the role of the attending physician under Washington case law. *Contra* Pet 9-10. Nothing about declining to consider the separate administrative dispute related to Pollard's request to change of attending physicians in the good cause analysis undermines this Court's recognition that the attending physician's medical opinion must be given special consideration in an appeal. *Cf. Clark County v. McManus*, 185 Wn.2d 466, 472, 372, 372 P.3d 764 (2016) (requiring a jury instruction that an attending physician's opinion must be given special consideration by the jury); *Shafer v. Dep't*

of Labor & Indus., 166 Wn.2d 710, 213 P.3d 591 (2009) (service of a closing order must be provided to the attending physician). Pollard's longstanding treating physician found he reached maximum medical improvement and requested a rating examination to help determine permanent partial disability. Ex 7; CP 44. Pollard should have sought an appealable order from the Department addressing the switching-attending-physician issue rather than trying to bootstrap his administrative dispute to the appeal of his suspension of benefits.

Finally, Pollard is wrong that the suspension of benefits provisions do not advance the purposes of the Industrial Insurance Act. Pet. 9.

Provisions that ensure timely administration of workers' compensation claims—such as the suspension of benefits when a worker refuses to cooperate with claim administration—facilitate resolving claims, which improve outcomes for workers and reduce costs to both employers and employees alike. Such provisions promote the "sure and certain relief" the Act seeks to ensure. *See* RCW 51.04.010. Because the provisions promote the purposes of the Act, the Court of Appeals' application of these provisions to the facts of this case are not a basis for granting review.

V. CONCLUSION

The Court should not grant review because the Court of Appeals' decision implicates none of the RAP 13.4(b) reasons for review. The

Court of Appeals correctly declined to allow Pollard to refashion his unrelated dispute with Kaiser into good cause. This Court should deny review.